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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I will go over

          3  what is going to happen while we are still getting

          4  people in. I am Council Member Steve DiBrienza and I

          5  chair this Committee, the Committee on General

          6  Welfare, and I am joined by Council Member Martin

          7  Malave-Dilan, a member of this Committee.

          8                 We expect before the afternoon is

          9  over to be joined by most of the rest of the

         10  Committee. Council Members, several of them are

         11  outside at a very important Public Safety Committee

         12  hearing, members of this Committee, Council Member

         13  Watkins and Perkins and others. Several other

         14  Council members and members of this Committee are

         15  engaged in a very important act, making the

         16  statement they feel very strongly about, and that

         17  involves the protest at Police Plaza. So the numbers

         18  of people here will vary for the balance of the

         19  morning, or afternoon, I should say, number one.

         20                 Number two, we have some extreme time

         21  constraints so that anyone who knows the work of

         22  this Committee knows that ordinarily the hearings

         23  last for hours and hours, I take any and every

         24  witness, give as much time as I possibly can, but in

         25  this case we are scheduled with witnesses, we will
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          2  stick to the schedule and only if there is time will

          3  we take additional witnesses.

          4                 The scheduled witnesses are Fred

          5  Shack and Joan McAllister, then Veronica Farje, then

          6  Steve Banks and Mary Brosnahan. Within those groups

          7  I believe they may have some additional people with

          8  them, I only named the main folks, so that I hope it

          9  was not unclear to anyone in that normally if you

         10  are used to my Committee and my members, you know,

         11  everyone who wants to sign up signs up, we stay for

         12  hours. We cannot do that today because of scheduling

         13  reasons.

         14                 It is very likely that after hearing

         15  the testimony, the actual issues to be voted on will

         16  have to be voted on I believe the morning of the

         17  Council meeting rather than at the end of this -- it

         18  is customary to do it at the end of the hearing, but

         19  again, the numbers of people being involved may

         20  require us to actually take the vote, in other

         21  words, keep it open and include the vote the morning

         22  of the Council meeting. We will figure that out. It

         23  is somewhat administerial in nature, I can assure

         24  everyone, from the most fervent supporter to the

         25  most fervent critic, and anywhere in between that
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          2  there is no problem that is developed, it is just a

          3  matter of logistics.

          4                 Now, let me also indicate, and I

          5  think this is an important signal, the Commissioner,

          6  the newly appointed commissioner of the Department

          7  of Homeless Services, that is Commissioner

          8  Oesterreich, who is with us, he is in the audience,

          9  as well are several of his staff people, so that

         10  they could hear everything that will be said today

         11  as we come to the end of the long road which is

         12  relative to the future of DHS. Now, I think that is

         13  a positive and good sign. He appeared at our budget

         14  hearing, we indicated that we would be trying to

         15  work together, raised the issues that we were

         16  concerned about, he raised the issues he was

         17  concerned about as a new commissioner, and that

         18  while we would not always agree on everything, the

         19  fact is that we were both committed to a new

         20  dialogue between the agency and the Committee to

         21  actually advance the causes that we were all

         22  concerned about and how to help people move through

         23  this department, through this Homeless Services

         24  Agency, to become self-sufficient and the like.

         25                 There are a whole host of issues that
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          2  no doubt we will be covering. Anyway, I think it was

          3  very good and very important that he be here, and I

          4  am glad to see that he is.

          5                 Now, to put the hearing in context,

          6  the agency was created five or six years ago, it was

          7  -- whatever services were provided to homeless

          8  individuals were done through the bureaucracy at

          9  HRA, it was separated out. Workers were asked and

         10  encouraged to leave HRA in this bureaucracy to

         11  become part of a free-standing Department of

         12  Homeless Services. It was an experiment, some would

         13  call it a noble experiment. It was to last five

         14  years and there was to be a whole kind of new look

         15  at the issue and how we could provide and not only

         16  shelter, but services to people in need.

         17                 It had a long tenure, some of it

         18  predates my own tenure as chair of this Committee,

         19  but eventually I came to be the Chair of this

         20  Committee. The Committee had a constant change in

         21  make-up, and at one point, probably the most notable

         22  point, from my intervention or interaction with this

         23  issue, was surrounding the use of for-profit welfare

         24  hotels, it was something the Council was greatly

         25  concerned with and went out of its way to legislate
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          2  an end to.  By way of a timetable, we came towards

          3  the end of the agency's first run, if you will, its

          4  test period, they were still in some for-profit

          5  welfare hotels. We created an extension and a

          6  further timetable that recognized the drop from 20

          7  some odd for-profit welfare hotels, non-compliant

          8  welfare hotels, down to a few.

          9                 We set out a new timetable to be out

         10  of the for-profit hotels and tied that to the

         11  continued existence of the agency, such that if they

         12  had not met their goal, they would have

         13  automatically gone out of business. We called it an

         14  accelerated sunset clause, it was very novel, people

         15  were very concerned about it, but I think it did its

         16  job in that it held the agency accountable and its

         17  feet to the fire, eventually they were out of all

         18  those for-profit welfare hotels, most of them being

         19  rat traps, costing the City millions of dollars and

         20  creating human misery for the individuals and

         21  families that were involved. We moved on to other

         22  issues and began to contemplate the continuation of

         23  the agency. The idea that it be made permanent.

         24                 Our first approach was somewhat

         25  detailed and had many points to it and was passed by
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          2  the Council, vetoed by the Mayor. Rather than

          3  override the veto, the Council chose to relook at

          4  the issue and streamline the legislation somewhat,

          5  making sure we addressed the major issues of the

          6  day.

          7                 Should the agency be permanent, and

          8  how will it structurally be permanent? If there were

          9  ever to be new shelters, and everyone hopes there is

         10  no need for new shelters in that we do more on the

         11  sort of end of the system, the permanent end of

         12  housing, but to the extent there are new shelters,

         13  should they be massive, unlimited in size, or should

         14  they be restricted? We opted to restrict.

         15                 Should the agency be accountable and

         16  report to the Council that has the oversight

         17  responsibility? Obviously we opted for

         18  responsibility and the demand that the agency report

         19  to us.

         20                 Should people who are involved in the

         21  homeless system simply be sheltered or moved from

         22  place to place in terms of their shelter, or should

         23  there be services? Should there be an effort to try

         24  to actually assist the individuals and families

         25  involved, such that they can perhaps put their, with
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          2  help put their lives often back together and move to

          3  self-sufficiency and permanent housing and the like

          4  for those who need services.

          5                 Obviously this Committee felt

          6  strongly that services need be attached through all

          7  of our efforts.

          8                 There was a question as to what to do

          9  with grandfathered -- what to do with large shelters

         10  that were pre-existing. There has always been debate

         11  about the need to continue them versus the need to

         12  shrink their size. We opted in the final analysis to

         13  grandfather in seven existing shelters that were

         14  greater than 200, which were working to a greater or

         15  lesser degree and varied site to site. There was

         16  resistance on behalf of the Administration to our

         17  plan, there was a veto of the legislation, there was

         18  an override, during that there was a much publicized

         19  public feud, if you will, between the

         20  Administration, in the form of the Mayor, and then

         21  Acting Commissioner -- not the currently appointed

         22  Commissioner -- and myself and the Council Committee

         23  and the Council as a whole, surrounding threats of

         24  shelters being placed in everyone's district and all

         25  kinds of sky-falling in kind of ramifications to
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          2  this very sound legislation, as well as a battle

          3  that personally involved myself as chair and the

          4  citizens I represent in my district, although I

          5  represented a district, as well we all try to worry

          6  about policy for the City.

          7                 In any event, it was very well

          8  publicized, it came to an end. There were some

          9  changes suggested in the law. The agency will be

         10  free standing, it will be a Department of Homeless

         11  Services, however, those workers who left HRA and

         12  that entity, in a sense as pioneers, were offered

         13  protection during those early years, will again be

         14  offered some reasonable protections to their status

         15  as public employees. So that makes sense. That is

         16  one of the amendments.

         17                 The issue of children and families

         18  sleeping on the floor in the Bronx at the EAU -

         19  unacceptable. It was always unacceptable to the

         20  Council, it is what drove all of our legislation.

         21  The final version in this legislation, in this

         22  amendment, creates a system where people will be

         23  sheltered late at night, if they are still in the

         24  process of applying.

         25                 It accomplishes our goal and in fact,
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          2  we have been told in testimony that in fact it

          3  perhaps does a better job than originally

          4  anticipated. And there is some flexibility given to

          5  grandfathered shelters, if one or more goes off

          6  line, in terms of their replacement.

          7                 So that is what we have in this,

          8  essentially a multi-part amendment to the

          9  legislation, which will put together this

         10  Department, with all of its components for the

         11  foreseeable future.

         12                 Having said that, let me take

         13  witnesses, so that we can have testimony on the

         14  record, about problems that they anticipate, and

         15  battlegrounds that they see, as we move forward with

         16  the permanent agency, because that is something

         17  everyone on this Committee and staff, as well as the

         18  Administration, is concerned with and wants to hear

         19  about.

         20                 So, the first witnesses are Fred

         21  Shack and Joan McAllister, if you would join us.

         22                 Understand, every witness who appears

         23  before this Committee is sworn by Counsel, so I

         24  direct your attention to Counsel to the Committee.

         25  You may either swear or affirm, depending on your
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          2  own belief system, but you are first addressed by

          3  Counsel, and that is every single witness, so as to

          4  not cast any aspersion on any particular witness, it

          5  includes the Administration and everyone else who

          6  appears before us.

          7                 So, I direct your attention to

          8  Counsel to this Committee.

          9                 MS. LEVIN: Would all three of you

         10  please raise your right hand.

         11                 .

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Raise your

         13  right hands.

         14                 MS. LEVIN: Do you swear that the

         15  testimony you are about to provide is the truth, the

         16  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         17                 MR. SHACK: I do.

         18                 MS. McALLISTER: I do.

         19                 MS. MORALES: Yes.

         20                 MS. LEVIN: If each of you could say

         21  your name and affiliation, and then whoever wants to

         22  begin may begin.

         23                 MR. SHACK: Yes, my name is Fred

         24  Shack. I am the President of the Tier II Coalition.

         25                 MS. McALLISTER: My name is Joan
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          2  McAllister, I am Chairman of the Research Evaluation

          3  Committee.

          4                 MS. MORALES: Hello. My name is Omayra

          5  Morales.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. Fred,

          7  you are first?

          8                 MR. SHACK: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, sir.

         10                 MR. SHACK: Good afternoon, to the

         11  Honorable Chair and members of the General Welfare

         12  Committee. As I indicated, my name is Fred Shack,

         13  and I am the President of the Tier II Coalition.

         14                 This afternoon I have with me Joan

         15  McAllister, who is the Chair of our Research

         16  Committee, and Omayra Morales, who is a resident in

         17  one of the Tier IIs of a member agency.

         18                 The Tier II Coalition is a non-profit

         19  membership organization, comprised of 42 member

         20  agencies, which operate transitional housing for

         21  homeless families under contract with the City of

         22  New York.

         23                 I would like to thank you for

         24  inviting us to testify this afternoon.

         25                 Today's unique convergence of events
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          2  of the Committee's hearings on Intro. 521-A, the

          3  welcoming of the new commissioner, Marty

          4  Oesterreich, and a discussion on shelter

          5  eligibility, affords us a clear opportunity to

          6  recognize just how far we have come in improving the

          7  shelter system and identifying the challenges that

          8  lie ahead.

          9                 I will offer some context to this

         10  conversation. Joan McAllister will present the

         11  findings of the Tier II Coalition's Research

         12  Committee's study on eligibility, and Ms. Morales

         13  has volunteered to share some of her experiences in

         14  the EAU.

         15                 Last night nearly 4,000 families

         16  slept safely in the City-funded Tier II facilities.

         17  We are proud to serve New York in this capacity in

         18  partnership with the Department of Homeless

         19  Services.

         20                 The Tier II Coalition would like to

         21  take this opportunity to offer a welcome to the new

         22  commissioner, and to publicly reaffirm our

         23  commitment to working together with DHS to provide

         24  the best possible services to homeless families.

         25                 Most of us remember the dark days
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          2  before the creation of the Department of Homeless

          3  Services, and the advent of a Tier II system when

          4  families were warehoused in welfare hotels.

          5                 The City has made great progress

          6  since that time. DHS now contracts out most of its

          7  services, and has promoted and supported the

          8  creation of new models, including the creation of

          9  specialized facilities.

         10                 I would stipulate that the last ten

         11  years, our family system has gone from a national

         12  disgrace to one of the better systems in the

         13  country. I must hasten to add that it is far from

         14  perfect and that there are troubling signs that this

         15  system is headed for decline.

         16                 It is my hope that we can look

         17  forward, we can look back to today's hearing as a

         18  moment when this trajectory was reversed.

         19                 We wish to express our support for

         20  maintaining the autonomy of the Department through

         21  Intro. 521-A. Additionally, Intro. 521-A includes

         22  language which requires the Department to provide

         23  appropriate sleeping accommodations for all families

         24  with children seeking shelter who are still in the

         25  application process after 10:00 p.m. We believe that
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          2  these and other conditions included in Intro. 521-A

          3  will significantly improve our current system.

          4                 One must acknowledge that some of the

          5  recruitment in the system over the past few years

          6  has been due to the oversight of the Council,

          7  particularly this Committee and the persistence of

          8  the advocacy community and the court system.

          9                 For this reason we welcome the

         10  oversight of this Council as required by Intro.

         11  521-A.

         12                 In considering eligibility, we should

         13  recognize that operating an EAU is only one part of

         14  a continuum of steps which must be in place for a

         15  system to function.

         16                 I think it is vital that we consider

         17  these issues in their context.

         18                 For example, the ongoing restriction

         19  to access the front end, eligibility, has been

         20  coupled with the withering of resources on the back

         21  end. Simply stated, our ability to move families

         22  through the System, the shelter system, is dependent

         23  upon the availability of affordable houses.

         24                 At a time when the federal policies

         25  have effectively limited access to affordable
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          2  housing for homeless families, and when the economy

          3  has driven up rents, the City's housing policy is

          4  addressed. The delays in implementing the City's new

          5  anti-abandonment strategies and the City's

          6  unwillingness to implement a rent assistance

          7  program, are examples of its failures.

          8                 The City has saved a small amount in

          9  a short time, but the families who are currently, I

         10  mean currently ready to occupy affordable housing

         11  units are still in the shelter, at a cost of

         12  approximately $30,000 a year to the City.

         13                 It is not a coincidence that as

         14  finding housing has gotten harder, the average

         15  length of stay in the Tier II system has gone from

         16  215 days in 1994 to 306 days in 1998.

         17                 Last year, approximately 14,000

         18  families were found to be ineligible as they made

         19  applications to enter into the emergency shelter

         20  system.

         21                 As another example, perhaps the most

         22  insidious new threat is that under the new

         23  regulations, shelter families will face eviction in

         24  the event of non-compliance with service plans or

         25  for failing to meet public assistance-related
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          2  requirements.

          3                 This government's obsession with

          4  increasing welfare roles by denial of benefits

          5  without concern for the actual well-being of

          6  families, the families in question, created a

          7  situation where bad policy appears to be good

          8  policy.

          9                 The Tier II Coalition believes that

         10  chronically non-compliant families should be held

         11  accountable for their behavior. These consequences

         12  should not include eviction.

         13                 Similarly, at a time when the federal

         14  government has had to intervene in the City's

         15  welfare policies, we believe it dangerous to

         16  predicate a human need as basic as shelter on one's

         17  ability to maintain a P.A. case.

         18                 This issue is one of great urgency.

         19  Passing Intro. 521-A moves us one step closer to

         20  meeting what we know is our collective goal,

         21  creation of a human system for the treatment of New

         22  York's most vulnerable population, homeless children

         23  and their families.

         24                 Today behind me there are a

         25  significant number of individuals who have had to
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          2  experience the situation at the EAU. Unfortunately

          3  some of them may not have an opportunity to speak,

          4  but we do have someone here today with us who

          5  hopefully will help share some insight to how

          6  difficult the situation is for our children and

          7  families.

          8                 Now I would like to turn it over to

          9  Joan McAllister.

         10                 MS. McALLISTER: Good afternoon. My

         11  name is Joan McAllister, I am Chairman of the

         12  Research Evaluation Committee at the Tier II

         13  Coalition.

         14                 I believe our recent research

         15  underlines, quantifies what Tier II provider know as

         16  a result of working with homeless families on a

         17  daily basis; that is, that the guidelines and

         18  procedures now in place for determining eligibility

         19  has created unnecessary hardship for New York

         20  families who need emergency shelter, and that the

         21  Department of Homeless Services is not fulfilling

         22  its obligations in operating emergency assistance

         23  unit.

         24                 As of August of 1966 DHS placed

         25  investigative units, the EAU, and announced more
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          2  stringent guidelines for deciding eligibility, with

          3  the stated goal of keeping families out of the

          4  system if they had other housing options.

          5                 In subsequent rulings in the McCane

          6  litigation, the Supreme Court required that DHS make

          7  sure that other options were "actually available",

          8  and that the EAU not return families to housing that

          9  is "unsafe or overcrowded".

         10                 Not long after these new procedures

         11  were in place, Tier II Coalition members began

         12  hearing from families in their facilities they had

         13  been unfairly treated when they applied for shelter

         14  at the EAU.

         15                 Their complaints we thought was

         16  credible, and we recognized that the new system had

         17  at least the potential for abuse. To mention just

         18  one point, since DHS has no written standards for

         19  the kind of housing that is acceptable for families,

         20  no fixed criteria to determine what is unsafe and

         21  overcrowded housing. EAU staff in the Bronx have

         22  incredible latitude for making bad, even dangerous

         23  judgments.

         24                 We conducted two surveys of families

         25  that were in the Tier II shelters, that is families
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          2  that had actually been found eligible and admitted.

          3  The first survey taken in September 1996, prior to

          4  the new restrictive guidelines, found eight percent

          5  of families had been rejected by the EAU at least

          6  once prior to gaining admittance to the shelter

          7  system.

          8                 Only four months later, that number

          9  had jumped almost 35 percent, a four-fold increase.

         10  In '97/'98, we conducted another survey over a

         11  six-month period of Tier II families, and achieved

         12  similar findings about the percentage who had been

         13  rejected. It was close to a third, it varied from

         14  month to month over the six months, from something

         15  like 29 to 34 percent, but it was consistent with

         16  our first findings, and we had completed 506 surveys

         17  which was 94 percent of all intakes in the

         18  participating shelters.

         19                 In the second survey -- also we found

         20  the families who had been rejected before being

         21  accepted, that one out of four had been rejected six

         22  or more times before gaining entry. And as I think

         23  you all know, if families are screened and sent to

         24  conditional placement for ten days and then rejected

         25  they can reapply and then be resent then to a
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          2  conditional placement for ten days and reapply. So

          3  quite a number of these families had been forced to

          4  reapply over and over.

          5                 In the second survey we also asked

          6  families on what grounds they had been rejected. We

          7  found 77 percent were told that they were not

          8  eligible because they had access to other housing.

          9                 Most of the remaining 23 percent were

         10  rejected for failure to produce documents. Fewer

         11  than five percent were rejected for non-cooperation,

         12  and most of these turned out to be cases of

         13  documents missing. Asked if they had any changes in

         14  the experience or the circumstances between

         15  applications, almost uniformly the families said no,

         16  they had not, that their circumstances remained the

         17  same between applications.

         18                 Our surveys led us to two major

         19  conclusions, particularly the last one. First of

         20  all, the DHS staff often fails to help families

         21  document their eligibility for emergency housing.

         22  DHS' own written guidelines instruct staff to make

         23  reasonable efforts to verify eligibility and to

         24  "assist clients in obtaining documentation to

         25  verify eligibility."
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          2                 Yet, we found families faced multiple

          3  rejections for not producing documents which reside

          4  at other government agencies.

          5                 We also found cases where it was not

          6  clear to the family when they applied that the

          7  documents were necessary, and we found cases where

          8  families produced evidence only when assisted by

          9  Legal Aid or another advocate, when in fact a lawyer

         10  or an advocate was doing the work the DHS staff is

         11  obligated, according to its own guidelines, to do;

         12  that is help families assemble evidence of

         13  eligibility.

         14                 Our second major finding is that DHS

         15  often fails to meet its Court Ordered obligation to

         16  make sure that other housing options are "actually

         17  available" and that such housing is not either

         18  unsafe or overcrowded.

         19                 Family after family filled our survey

         20  with stories that document this failure. One family

         21  was rejected six times before an inspection of their

         22  other housing found the unit to be uninhabitable,

         23  with no windows, and a falling down ceiling. And it

         24  is very hard to believe it takes six inspections to

         25  discover this.
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          2                 And another young woman and her child

          3  were told to go back to a New York City Housing

          4  Authority apartment where nine people would share

          5  two bedrooms. She said an EAU staff person told her,

          6  "you slept on the floor at the EAU, why can't you

          7  sleep on the floor at your mother's?"

          8                 After each survey we presented our

          9  results to DHS and the Department dismissed the

         10  findings as anecdotal and statistically

         11  insignificant.

         12                 We believe they are valid. Our

         13  findings echo the findings of studies by both the

         14  Citizens Committee for Children of New York and The

         15  Legal Aid Society's Homeless Rights Project.

         16                 Our recent study was designed and

         17  administered with the help of Dr. Michael Fabricant

         18  of Hunter College, who is sorry he couldn't be with

         19  us today, and he said, "It isn't that these are

         20  findings of just one study, findings that are

         21  contradicted by other studies. What we have here is

         22  an accumulation of findings all pointing in the same

         23  direction. Case study analysis is a valid tool of

         24  social science. We have here an accumulation of case

         25  studies all pointing to the same conclusions."
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          2                 DHS has questioned the value of

          3  self-reporting -- the fact that we accept the

          4  statements of families about their own experience,

          5  and that suggestion -- well, I don't think it

          6  requires a comment, but if we had time to talk to

          7  all of the families in this room, I think you too

          8  would believe them.

          9                 We believe that sufficient evidence

         10  has piled up that we should stop arguing methodology

         11  and start addressing issues. The Department does not

         12  acknowledge that repeatedly denying shelter to needy

         13  families causes tremendous disruption in the efforts

         14  of families to get back on their feet. Nor has the

         15  Department addressed the fact that these denials are

         16  often the result of its own failure to carrying out

         17  its own mandates and those handed down by the Court.

         18                 We hope the passage of Intro. 521-A

         19  will create the opportunity for immediate

         20  improvements in this system, starting with the most

         21  obvious steps: at a minimum DHS should establish and

         22  put in writing both standards of acceptable housing

         23  for families and standards of evidence that make it

         24  clear what constitutes proof of homelessness.

         25                 Thank you for your time.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          3                 Now you have something you wanted to

          4  give? Some testimony you wanted to give as well?

          5                 MS. MORALES: Yes. I just want to say

          6  my story.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: No problem.

          8                 MS. MORALES: Good afternoon.

          9                 My name is Omayra Morales. I am 23

         10  years old, the mother of two, and I am currently

         11  homeless.

         12                 Due to sacrifices in my life, I ended

         13  up living with my father in his SRO. When his

         14  landlord found out, a note was written up requesting

         15  that I leave immediately.

         16                 I went directly to the EAU located in

         17  151st Street in the Bronx. There the workers grilled

         18  me and expressed their disbelief at what I was

         19  saying.

         20                 Even though I brought in the

         21  necessary documentation. I know this very well, I

         22  had to go there five times before I was found

         23  eligible.

         24                 The first couple of times I was found

         25  ineligible because I didn't bring in the necessary
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          2  information, according to their records.

          3                 During this period of time I was

          4  placed in Albin three times and in East River two

          5  times. When in these assessment shelters, my kids

          6  missed a lot of school, because of the distance and

          7  because they were constantly sick.

          8                 Each time I was found ineligible they

          9  missed school, for they were in no condition to go

         10  to it. They missed school and a lot of sleep. Every

         11  time that they called you up, all family members

         12  have to be present, even if it was to ask you the

         13  same questions every time.

         14                 They didn't care to listen and find

         15  out the circumstances. "No excuses", that is what

         16  they said. No one would hear you. Every time I

         17  reapplied I prayed that they would find me eligible.

         18  I would give them any new information they

         19  requested, yet it was never enough, so I was always

         20  sent back to the EAU.

         21                 Twice there were not enough towels to

         22  go around, so I didn't get any. The guards there

         23  looked down on you, and when I spoke to the workers,

         24  everyone seemed disinterested.

         25                 The fair hearings are a complete
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          2  waste of time. Due to the fact that they go by what

          3  is already written down, not by what you say or what

          4  new information you bring in. The whole EAU acts

          5  like one wants to be homeless, like one would prefer

          6  to sleep in the streets and on cold floors, have to

          7  use dirty bathrooms and shower stalls.

          8                 My opinion, this whole system has to

          9  change for the better of all homeless people, that

         10  for one reason or another are needing this help.

         11                 I am currently one of the lucky

         12  families, for I live at Fox House. Fox House is the

         13  Tier II located in Manhattan where they have a

         14  wonderful staff. The EAU should be filled with more

         15  people like that, where the families are a priority.

         16                 This is my story.

         17                 MR. SHACK: In summary, you know, the

         18  recent Intro. 521-A and the recently passed public

         19  law 57 will affect the front end eligibility

         20  process. The Coalition joins the many voices

         21  expressing deep concern regarding the City's

         22  eligibility process. And for the record, the Tier II

         23  Coalition believes that only the families who have

         24  no other appropriate housing options should be

         25  eligible for emergency housing in the City's system.
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          2                 We have heard from a family today,

          3  and as bad as her story is, we believe that she is

          4  one of the lucky ones, as she has indicated.

          5                 What happens to the families who

          6  don't reapply, three or four or five times? Do they

          7  end up in substandard housing? Do they return to

          8  abusive situations? The reduction in the welfare

          9  roles, as with the reduction in the welfare roles,

         10  the attitude seems to be one of don't ask, don't

         11  tell. No one seems to know what happens to families.

         12                 I must remind the Committee that this

         13  was just a head in the sand posture (sic) adopted by

         14  many after the deinstitutionalization of the

         15  mentally ill in 1970.

         16                 Ten years later we all appeared

         17  shocked with the re-emergence of widespread

         18  homelessness. In our opinion the situation is

         19  unacceptable, and either we don't know what is

         20  happening with the applicant families, or as Ms.

         21  McAllister has detailed, they are unnecessarily

         22  turned through the application process for months.

         23                 Families are clearly harmed when they

         24  are forced into a cycle of multiple rejection and

         25  hotel stays, adults miss work, children miss school,
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          2  public assistance cases are closed, due sometimes

          3  solely to the change of address, and families who

          4  are already under a tremendous amount of stress are

          5  further undermined.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you. And

          8  I appreciate your willingness to come in and

          9  testify.  As we move to make this agency permanent,

         10  I know this is the area that is of most concern to,

         11  you know, the largest number of people. It has come

         12  up to us repeatedly, directly, informally, formally,

         13  through your study, through your testimony, and I am

         14  happy, as I said, to listen to it. We may have some

         15  questions as this process moves on, this is the area

         16  I think that we need to address on an ongoing basis

         17  with the new Commissioner, and I am glad he is here.

         18                 Thank you. Thank you, folks.

         19                 MR. SHACK: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Veronica

         21  Farje, please. Citizens Committee and then we will

         22  have Steve Banks and Mary Brosnahan.

         23                 MS. LEVIN: Please raise your right

         24  hand.

         25                 Do you swear that the testimony you
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          2  are about to provide is the truth, the whole truth

          3  and nothing but the truth?

          4                 MS. FARJE: I do.

          5                 MS. LEVIN: Please state your name and

          6  affiliation for the record.

          7                 MS. FARJE: Veronica Farje, Staff

          8  Associate for Housing, Homelessness and Income

          9  Support, Citizens Committee for Children.

         10                 Good afternoon. As I said, my name is

         11  Veronica Farje, I am from Citizens Committee for

         12  Children in New York, we are a 54-year-old

         13  children's advocacy organization, with the goal of

         14  securing the protection and services that all

         15  children need to be healthy, housed, educated and

         16  safe.

         17                 I would like to thank Chairman

         18  DiBrienza and members of the General Welfare

         19  Committee allowing me the opportunity to testify

         20  before you today and for continuing to focus on

         21  issues concerning homeless families and their

         22  children and the shelter system that serves them.

         23                 Proposed Intro. 521-A re-establishes

         24  a Department of Homeless Services as a separate

         25  agency and provides certain protection for families
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          2  who apply for shelter at the City's emergency

          3  assistance unit, or EAU in the Bronx.

          4                 Most notably, Intro. 521-A would

          5  require that families be provided temporary shelter

          6  placement at night ending the routine occurrence of

          7  families and children sleeping on the floors, desks

          8  and chairs of the City office.

          9                 Additionally, intake hours should be

         10  extended at the EAU so that families appearing

         11  before 5:00 p.m. would not be required to wait until

         12  the office is open for business.

         13                 Intro. 521-A would require that the

         14  EAU be open for intake 24 hours per day, seven days

         15  per week.

         16                 As things stand right now, staff are

         17  at the EAU 24 hours a day investigating families,

         18  processing applications, providing medical screening

         19  and performing other functions.

         20                 Adding the 24-hour intake function to

         21  their responsibilities will benefit all, eliminating

         22  an evening overload of applicants for shelter and

         23  allowing for families' applications to be processed

         24  in a more timely fashion.

         25                 CCC supports the passage of Intro.
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          2  521-A, as it will finally alter the way that the EAU

          3  is operated.

          4                 However, we continue to have concerns

          5  about the practice of conditional placement of

          6  families and the eligibility process that has been

          7  utilized by the Department of Homeless Services for

          8  almost three years now.

          9                 While it has helped to alleviate the

         10  past situation of families sleeping for several days

         11  at the EAU awaiting placement, it has also created a

         12  new intake system that forces families and their

         13  children to reapply for shelter several times in

         14  their attempt to overturn initial findings of

         15  ineligibility, which are commonplace.

         16                 The process begins at the EAU where

         17  applicant families are interviewed and investigation

         18  into their circumstances begin.

         19                 Families are referred from the EAU to

         20  conditional placement facilities, hotels or

         21  reception centers, for up to ten days while the

         22  investigation of the family continues.

         23                 Families found eligible for shelter

         24  are moved from these conditional placement units to

         25  Tier II shelter accommodations; however, too many
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          2  families find themselves unable to prove their

          3  eligibility and having no other place to go reapply

          4  at the EAU often several times.

          5                 The applicant families are told by

          6  EAU investigation staff that they have other housing

          7  available to them or that they have not cooperated

          8  with the investigation into their housing

          9  circumstances.

         10                 However, Citizens Committee for

         11  Children believes otherwise.

         12                 Due to the lack of information

         13  provided to families by DHS, as to the process and

         14  requirements for shelter eligibility, families and

         15  children are propelled into multiple conditional

         16  shelter stays during their episode of homelessness.

         17                 To document the effects of this

         18  process on children and families, CCC issued a

         19  report in October 1998 to the impact of shelter

         20  eligibility and conditional placement procedures on

         21  families and I have attached it to your testimony

         22  today. It was the result of in-depth interviews with

         23  48 families applying for shelter and the staff at

         24  conditional placement facilities, we interviewed

         25  families outside of the EAU and in hotels that the
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          2  City uses as conditional placements.

          3                 CCC found that most families, 39 out

          4  of the 48 that we interviewed, were found ineligible

          5  for shelter because they had other housing

          6  available. However, the housing that DHS assumed

          7  these families had available to them was often

          8  severely crowded. In New York City Housing Authority

          9  buildings, which are public housing, it prohibits

         10  doubled-up situations, or unavailable for other

         11  reasons, including legal eviction, threat of

         12  violence, illness of the primary tenant, and I have

         13  a few examples, there was a 36-year-old pregnant

         14  woman that we interviewed who had a 14-year-old

         15  learning disabled daughter. They were told to return

         16  to a friend's apartment where they had been

         17  previously been staying.

         18                 This family had been found ineligible

         19  for shelter eight times, and each time they had been

         20  told they could return to the other housing, the

         21  friend's house.

         22                 The apartment, however, had five

         23  rooms, 11 tenants, not including this family.

         24                 Additionally, the host family was

         25  preparing to move out of the apartment the following
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          2  month, so the apartment wouldn't be available

          3  anyhow, not even in a very overcrowded situation.

          4                 A 29-year-old woman who we

          5  interviewed, had two children, and they were told to

          6  return to her mother's New York City Housing

          7  Authority apartment, despite the fact that her

          8  mother wouldn't allow her to stay, and the

          9  two-bedroom apartment already had four tenants

         10  living in it.

         11                 This woman tried to have her name

         12  added to the NYCHA lease to try to obtain other

         13  housing, and she was told that there were already

         14  two lease-holders, and as it was a two-bedroom

         15  apartment she could not add herself to the lease.

         16                 So, she had been found ineligible for

         17  shelter five times, at the time that we interviewed

         18  her.

         19                 Other families had difficulty

         20  obtaining documentation, such as birth certificates

         21  and letters from landlords which caused them to be

         22  found ineligible.

         23                 At times, although the requested

         24  documents were obtained by the applicant family they

         25  were ignored.
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          2                 In one instance, a couple with two

          3  children were told that they needed to add the

          4  father to the public assistance budget. He did as he

          5  was told and when he returned to his family at the

          6  conditional placement, he learned that they had been

          7  found eligible for shelter in his absence. Upon

          8  presenting the budget letter from the income support

          9  center, which he had been asked to retrieve, the

         10  eligibility determination was reversed and they were

         11  found ineligible.

         12                 The family was again placed in a

         13  conditional placement facility for the 17th time.

         14                 A 32-year-old mother and her four and

         15  five-year-old children had been assaulted by various

         16  members of their previous doubled up accommodations,

         17  and they had entered into the doubled up

         18  accommodation in the first place because they were

         19  fleeing her husband who had beaten and verbally

         20  abused her.

         21                 Fleeing more abuse, she applied for

         22  shelter at the EAU, presented an order of protection

         23  that was valid for six more months, and was

         24  repeatedly told that she was ineligible due to a

         25  lack of cooperation and an invalid order of
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          2  protection.

          3                 Additionally, she was told that she

          4  would have to provide her husband's current address

          5  which she did not have, nor did she want him

          6  contacted, as he had abused her throughout their

          7  marriage.

          8                 Multiple conditional placements cause

          9  children to miss from several days to several weeks

         10  of school, despite their parents efforts to have

         11  them attend regularly.

         12                 Applicant families travel great

         13  distances on subways and buses to schools throughout

         14  the City in every borough. However, only two

         15  families reported that their children had not missed

         16  any school during their applications for shelter.

         17                 Children miss school for several

         18  reasons. While children, school-aged children

         19  generally receive MetroCards in their placements for

         20  transportation to and from school, their parents

         21  were not provided with tokens to escort their

         22  children to and from school. This wasn't so much a

         23  problem for the families that already had public

         24  assistance in place, but it was a particular

         25  hardship for the applicant families with no income
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          2  at all, and 25 percent of the families that we

          3  interviewed had no cash income at all.

          4                 When families reapplied for shelter

          5  at the EAU, all family members had to be present,

          6  including children, so they were unable to attend

          7  school on these days.

          8                 A lot of children miss school because

          9  of illness of the children or the parents. Many

         10  parents noted that their children had become ill

         11  from eating the food at the EAU, and 75 percent of

         12  the families interviewed had medical conditions that

         13  required ongoing medical care, such as asthma, high

         14  blood pressure, heart defects, high-risk

         15  pregnancies, things of that nature.

         16                 Families also were provided a very

         17  short time frame to return to the EAU for case

         18  conferences when they were found ineligible. They

         19  provided only a four-hour window, and so families

         20  that were on their eighth or ninth, tenth day of

         21  conditional placement, knew that they were getting a

         22  notice and would have a very short period of time to

         23  the EAU when the children could not then be taken to

         24  school which was often very far away and back in

         25  time to make it to the conference.
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          2                 Although our sample provides just a

          3  snapshot in time, the findings cannot be ignored.

          4                 Too many families reported the same

          5  difficulties - being found ineligible, being told to

          6  return to housing that really was not available, and

          7  documents had been ignored even when specifically

          8  requested, and the children missed school because of

          9  the eligibility process. And CCC has concluded that

         10  these are not exceptions to the rule.

         11                 We also attached to our report a copy

         12  of a response from the Department of Homeless

         13  Services, and similar to the Tier II situation our

         14  data was questioned because we are relying on

         15  self-reported data and it was the feeling of the

         16  agency that families may elaborate in order to get

         17  shelter placement, but of course Citizens Committee

         18  for Children cannot provide shelter placement, nor

         19  permanent housing, nor assistance to obtain a

         20  shelter placement. We merely acted as a sounding

         21  board for these families who had so much to tell.

         22                 Recent court orders mandate

         23  establishment of standards for crowding so that

         24  families are not sent back to overcrowded or unsafe

         25  conditions, establish certain protections for
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          2  victims of domestic violence, require information to

          3  be provided to families on the prerequisites of

          4  eligibility as well as which documents are

          5  acceptable for proving homelessness, and these were

          6  some of the recommendations that we elaborate on in

          7  our report as well.

          8                 Compliance with court orders and the

          9  new requirement that families applying for shelter

         10  at the EAU be provided with shelter after 10:00

         11  p.m., rather than remaining at the EAU will go a

         12  long way towards improving conditions for these

         13  families.

         14                 However, CCC urges that the City

         15  Council use its oversight powers to ensure that

         16  families are not turned away from shelters

         17  erroneously, and that the City provide children with

         18  stability during their family's homeless crisis,

         19  rather than the disruptions the current systems

         20  promotes.

         21                 Thank you for your ongoing attention

         22  for the needs of homeless families and children, and

         23  thank you for the opportunity to speak to these

         24  important issues.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.
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          2                 Again, this is, as we are on the

          3  verge of creating this, or amending legislation

          4  which creates this agency and makes it permanent,

          5  this appears to be one of the single biggest issues

          6  the Committee will have to address. I know you are

          7  not leaving, so we will hear the final witness and

          8  then there will be some questions for all of you.

          9                 Council Member Perkins, I am sorry.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you,

         11  Mr. Chairman.

         12                 I want to make an observation first,

         13  in terms of the fact that the new commissioner is

         14  here, and you know, I think that is positive. And I

         15  hope that in hearing this testimony it will help him

         16  understand the depth of the problem.

         17                 What do you assume is the -- do you

         18  determine is the reason for all of these obstacles

         19  that seem to be forcing people into a very

         20  difficult, to say the least, circumstance?

         21                 What do you think is going on?

         22                 MS. FARJE: There are several things

         23  going on. I think Fred Shack outlined some of them.

         24  There is very little permanent housing at the other

         25  end, and so we really can't afford to let every
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          2  single family in need of housing to the shelter

          3  system. We don't have the housing available for

          4  them.

          5                 But I think that the lack of clear

          6  guidelines for workers really doesn't help this

          7  whole situation. Families aren't provided with the

          8  information and the workers aren't provided -- they

          9  are provided with guidelines but merely that. They

         10  don't really have any concrete definitions of

         11  overcrowding or unsafe housing is, they don't have

         12  any thresholds for judging that, and so they are

         13  given great discretion.

         14                 We had interviewed some families who

         15  had had their previous housing visited by staff,

         16  studio apartments that were already with four or

         17  five people. I mean, there are no limits.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You are

         19  suggesting a mandate that the new commissioner

         20  should take into consideration, which is a

         21  management situation.

         22                 MS. FARJE: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: In other

         24  words, I don't mean to speak to the Commissioner

         25  indirectly, but we are talking about, at least in
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          2  the most optimistic sense, a management problem, if

          3  not a policy problem. A management problem that

          4  results in people becoming so victimized and I think

          5  that it is an interesting idea to present. I

          6  probably would take the point of view that it is

          7  probably a more interest in keeping people off the

          8  roles, but I would accept your study and your more

          9  sophisticated understanding.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         11                 You are not leaving, right?

         12                 MS. FARJE: No.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: All right,

         14  let's get Steve Banks and Mary Brosnahan up, and

         15  then, again, if there are any overall questions,

         16  everyone I believe is still available.

         17                 I should point out, as I indicated,

         18  we are joined by additional members of the

         19  Committee, that is to be expected because of the

         20  nature of the hearings going on. Council Member Bill

         21  Perkins, who you just heard from, Council Member

         22  Juanita Watkins, and, again, we expect to be joined

         23  by others who have been detained for important and

         24  obvious reasons.

         25                 Okay, if you guys would direct your
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          2  attention to the Counsel to the Committee, just

          3  before you begin everybody has to raise their right

          4  hand.

          5                 MS. LEVIN: Do you swear that the

          6  testimony you are about to provide is the truth, the

          7  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          8                 MR. BANKS: Yes.

          9                 MS. BROSNAHAN: Yes.

         10                 MR. MARQUIS: Yes.

         11                 MS. LEVIN: Please identify yourself

         12  for the record.

         13                 MR. BANKS: My name is Steven Banks. I

         14  am the Deputy Attorney in charge of the Civil

         15  Division of the Legal Aid Society, and also the

         16  coordinating attorney of the Homeless Rights

         17  Project, and counsel to the Coalition for the

         18  Homeless.

         19                 MS. BROSNAHAN: I am Mary Brosnahan,

         20  Executive Director of the Coalition for the

         21  Homeless.

         22                 MR. MARQUIS: I am Patrick Marquis,

         23  with the Advocacy Department of the Coalition for

         24  the Homeless.

         25                 MR. BANKS: Thank you for this
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          2  opportunity to appear before the Committee. We have

          3  provided testimony which you have for the record. In

          4  the interest of time, let me simply highlight some

          5  critical points.

          6                 I would like to touch on the key

          7  aspects of the legislation and then address some of

          8  the eligibility issues that were discussed. As well

          9  as some of the permanent housing needs.

         10                 First and foremost, I think that this

         11  Committee and the Chair and the Council as a whole

         12  deserve a tremendous amount of respect and support

         13  for what you have done and what you are about to do.

         14                 The pictures that we have brought

         15  with us yet again, depict the very brutal

         16  circumstances of children and families being left to

         17  sleep on the floor of a City office in this, the

         18  richest City in the world.

         19                 Every family that is here today that

         20  has gone through the City's shelter system, has

         21  spent one or more nights sleeping on the floor of

         22  this City welfare office as part of the City's

         23  application process for shelter.

         24                 Very few times in government do you

         25  have the opportunity to simply end such an unjust
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          2  situation and you are doing that today with your

          3  legislation that will forever make it impossible for

          4  an Administration to do what this administration has

          5  done, namely make it part and parcel of the process

          6  of applying for shelter that families must remain

          7  for a night on the floor of a welfare office.

          8                 Your legislative amendment which

          9  requires once it is 10:00 p.m., and families are in

         10  the process of still being applying for shelter,

         11  that they be taken to a placement for the night and

         12  will end this tragic nightmare. And you are to be

         13  congratulated particularly for standing up when the

         14  Administration attempted to say the Council couldn't

         15  perform its lawful powers and lawful authority to

         16  have a law which said the children can't sleep on

         17  the floor of an office. You stood for children not

         18  sleeping on the floor of an office and you are owed

         19  a great deal of respect and support from all of us.

         20                 In addition, the bill makes it clear

         21  that although the original legislation grandparented

         22  in seven large single adult shelters, the bill

         23  provides for procedures for substituting those beds

         24  in those large shelters for beds in smaller

         25  shelters. So, again, the Council has displayed the
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          2  leadership that it has done in recent years, to make

          3  important improvements in the lives of homeless

          4  people and in the lives of the communities in which

          5  homeless facilities are located, and you deserve our

          6  respect and support for that.

          7                 I appreciate the fact that the

          8  Commissioner stayed to listen to the testimony that

          9  people are providing, so often commissioners in the

         10  past have come and gone and not heard the very

         11  serious problems that exist in the agencies.

         12                 So, hope springs eternal that this

         13  really will be a dramatic change in the way that

         14  homeless policies have been handled.

         15                 The reports of the Tier II Coalition,

         16  the report of the Citizens Committee for Children,

         17  are revealing both for the substance of what they

         18  present in terms of the City's eligibility process,

         19  and for the response of the prior Commissioner and

         20  Acting Commissioner. I would hope the current

         21  Commissioner takes a fresh look.

         22                 These two reports formed part of our

         23  evidence before the Trial Court in the McCane

         24  litigation, in which we have sought and successfully

         25  have obtained an order which is attached to the
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          2  testimony, prohibiting the process of denying

          3  shelter to families that have no place else to go.

          4                 Interestingly enough, the prior

          5  Commissioner and Acting Commissioner, responded to

          6  both of these reports in the same terms. They were

          7  anecdotal and they were based upon "self-reporting

          8  by families".

          9                 I think in response to your question,

         10  Council Member Perkins, what is really going on here

         11  is there is a presumption or there had been a

         12  presumption, that families with children seeking

         13  shelter simply don't tell the truth, and that

         14  advocacy organizations like the Tier II Coalition

         15  representing Tier II providers and the Citizens

         16  Committee for Children don't tell the truth, and

         17  that by simply saying that they are not telling the

         18  truth, that is where it should end.

         19                 There was one problem, however, for

         20  the Administration, which is that in a court of law

         21  the City was required to produce their own computer

         22  data, documenting what is in fact occurring with the

         23  eligibility process.

         24                 The City's own computer data shows

         25  that between October 1st, 1997 and September 30th,
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          2  1998, what happened to families is exactly what the

          3  Tier II Coalition and the Citizens Committee for

          4  Children said was happening, namely that the vast

          5  majority of families were simply told they were

          6  ineligible for shelter, even when they had no place

          7  else to go, despite court orders prohibiting the

          8  City from denying shelter to families who had no

          9  place else to go and requiring the City to make sure

         10  that there was other housing actually available.

         11                 The City's own computer record showed

         12  that of the families that completed applications for

         13  shelter during that period of time, 56.8 percent of

         14  the families were ultimately found to be eligible.

         15  However, half of the families ultimately found

         16  eligible were required to apply an average of five

         17  times before they were found to be eligible for

         18  shelter. And the reasons why they were repeatedly

         19  found to be ineligible for shelter are the same

         20  types of things the Citizens Committee and the Tier

         21  II Coalition found, the lack of an objective

         22  standard for determining whether or not housing is

         23  overcrowded or unsafe, the exact types of things

         24  that Council Member Perkins and Council Member

         25  DiBrienza, you discussed with Acting Commissioner
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          2  Rosenblatt, the lack of standards.

          3                 Similarly, the Court has now issued

          4  an order directing the City to have a specific

          5  standard, which is consistent with the standards for

          6  permanent housing for determining whether or not a

          7  housing location is actually available or not.

          8                 However, thus far, and I realize the

          9  new Commissioner is only on the job for barely more

         10  than a week, the Administration has refused to

         11  comply with this January 12th, 1999 court order

         12  requiring the development and promulgation of an

         13  objective standard.

         14                 As a result, each and every night,

         15  the same situation of Tier II Coalition and Citizens

         16  Committee document, it is continuing to occur,

         17  families are denied shelter based upon a subjective

         18  deeming that housing which is in fact unsafe and

         19  overcrowded is available.

         20                 The Court, in addition, ordered the

         21  City to investigate and consider whether or not a

         22  tenant in a location in which the City says an

         23  application family could stay, has any prior

         24  involvement with the Child Welfare Administration,

         25  in other words, a very simple court order, to see
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          2  whether or not there is any ACS complaints

          3  outstanding or ACS history outstanding with the

          4  prime tenant. Again, the City, the Administration

          5  has refused to comply with that order.

          6                 Similarly, the Court has ordered the

          7  City to ensure that families are provided with a

          8  clear and concise statement of what documents are

          9  needed to establish eligibility.

         10                 Again, the Administration has

         11  declined to comply with that order.

         12                 In addition, the Administration has

         13  been ordered to assist families in documenting

         14  eligibility for shelter, by getting the birth

         15  certificates, the marriage licenses, and the other

         16  kinds of housing data that is necessary to establish

         17  eligibility for shelter, again the Administration

         18  contends it is complying but it is in fact not

         19  complying with that order.

         20                 I would hope now with the new

         21  Commissioner that they would take a fresh look and

         22  instead of another round of litigation that they

         23  would comply because families with children are

         24  paying the price each and every night for this

         25  non-compliance.
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          2                 Let me end with one last point with

          3  respect to permanent housing. This Council, in the

          4  FY '99 budget, directed the Administration to

          5  allocate $10 million in monies now spent on

          6  temporary shelter for permanent housing for 3,500

          7  single adults and homeless families.

          8                 For several hundred dollars a month,

          9  the Council found that it made far more sense to

         10  provide a family or a single adult with a permanent

         11  apartment rather than spending thousands of dollars

         12  a month to house those families in temporary

         13  housing.

         14                 The issue really here is that we have

         15  seen a dramatic decrease in permanent housing for

         16  homeless families and single adults over the last

         17  five years, whereas in FY '94, 5,400 apartments were

         18  provided for homeless families, for example,

         19  currently the Administration is proposing to provide

         20  3,600 apartments. As a result of that, more and more

         21  families are languishing for longer periods in the

         22  shelter system and more and more families are being

         23  deterred and found ineligible from entering the

         24  system.

         25                 This Council has shown leadership in
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          2  the past and we will encourage you again to continue

          3  to put a priority on funding for permanent housing,

          4  as you consider the budget.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          6                 Mary.

          7                 MS. BROSNAHAN: Mr. DiBrienza, and

          8  other members of the General Welfare Committee,

          9  Intro. 521-A continues the City Council's tradition

         10  of advancing effective and humane reforms to New

         11  York City's system of homeless services, and I would

         12  just like to highlight a few key points and actually

         13  piggy-back on much of what Steve Banks just laid

         14  out.

         15                 First of all, keep in mind that these

         16  reforms are ones that New Yorkers endorsed. Last

         17  week the Coalition released the results of the

         18  independent survey indicating that overwhelmingly

         19  New Yorkers see homelessness as an issue that simply

         20  must be addressed, to say that 75 percent see this

         21  as extremely urgent or very urgent.

         22                 Moreover, the survey found that 74

         23  percent of New Yorkers are critical of the Giuliani

         24  Administration's attempt to make it harder for

         25  homeless families to get into shelters. So,
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          2  typically we are dismissed as sort of the radical

          3  French (sic), but keep in mind that overwhelmingly

          4  New Yorkers support the fundamental right to

          5  shelter, access to shelter and building upon that

          6  effective alternatives to the situation that you are

          7  presented with today.

          8                 Specifically about capacity limits,

          9  is this Committee is well aware, the issue of

         10  capacity limits for adults shelters emerged two

         11  years ago, when the Pataki Administration eliminated

         12  state regulations that had previously held the

         13  capacity of new shelters to 200 beds.

         14                 Back in the 1980s and '90s before

         15  those capacity limits were enforced in New York

         16  City, homeless shelter residents and surrounding

         17  neighborhoods suffered the impact of massive

         18  thousand-bed armory shelters. These facilities were

         19  notorious for their outbreaks of contagious airborne

         20  diseases, like tuberculosis and for the incidence of

         21  violence brought on by these overcrowded conditions.

         22                 Indeed it is worth recalling that in

         23  the 1980s, two homeless men were murdered by

         24  security guards at a shelter which had several

         25  hundred beds on a single armory drill floor, and
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          2  like Mr. Banks, we brought with us photos to remind

          3  us that this is exactly the type of facility that

          4  you are in the process of outlawing for good.

          5                 The Coalition strongly supports the

          6  restoration of the 200-bed capacity limit for new

          7  adult shelters, and in addition we support the

          8  Council's proposal to enact procedures that would

          9  allow for replacing beds in seven grandparented

         10  large shelters with beds in smaller shelters.

         11                 So much has been said today about the

         12  situation at the EAU. Most folks aren't aware that

         13  in addition to the advocacy work that the Coalition

         14  does, we help over 3,000 people every day to our

         15  nine direct service programs. I will tell you that

         16  in our front office we run a crisis intervention

         17  program, over the past several months the walk-in

         18  clientele has increased 150 percent, and many of

         19  those people that we are seeing are the young women

         20  with small children who are coming to our office in

         21  desperate need of help to try to gain access to the

         22  shelter to which they are entitled.

         23                 I don't have to tell you that

         24  hundreds of families sleeping on the floor at the

         25  EAU, many of these children are lying on a cold
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          2  floor with no more than a thin sheet to protect

          3  them.

          4                 Intro. 521-A goes a long way to

          5  address this scandal and at long last the City's

          6  Department of Homeless Services will be required to

          7  provide placements and rooms with beds and cribs for

          8  the homeless parents and children.

          9                 Most important, families in crisis

         10  will not find that at the moment when they need the

         11  most help, the City's response to the request is one

         12  or more nights sleeping on a cold floor.

         13                 The key point that I would like to

         14  leave with you today is that the EAU has functioned

         15  as a sort of incubator for dangerous policies and

         16  practices, the sole purpose of which is to deter

         17  needy New Yorkers from receiving the help that they

         18  need.

         19                 So much of the work that we do at the

         20  Coalition for the Homeless is assisting single

         21  adults in their quest for shelters.

         22                 This winter hundreds of homeless men

         23  and women seeking shelter in the adult system have

         24  been bounced from one shelter to the next, often for

         25  weeks at a time. This new entrance to the shelter
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          2  system are transported often after midnight from

          3  intake centers to overnight beds. After a few hours

          4  of sleep they are ejected from the overnight shelter

          5  and told to return to the intake center where this

          6  circuit begins again.

          7                 Indeed, DHS transport manifests show

          8  that for three weeks in this January 1999 period,

          9  125 men on average per night were bounced from one

         10  shelter to the next.

         11                 Many of these men were working men

         12  who complained of sleep deprivation and the risk of

         13  losing their job. I have attached a recent New York

         14  Times article that details this situation.

         15                 Just last week, between 25 and 30

         16  women per night were denied stable shelter

         17  placements in the women shelter system, and several

         18  of these women are working full-time, others were

         19  suffering from mental illness.

         20                 I have asked my colleague Patrick

         21  Marquis just to say a few words because Patrick was

         22  at the Kingsbridge Women's Facility just last night

         23  and I would like him just to relay to you a couple

         24  of the stories of these estimated 25 to 30 women per

         25  night who can't get a stable shelter placement.
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          2                 MR. MARQUIS: Good afternoon. Last

          3  night, pursuant to the Callahan Consent Decree I

          4  made a visit to the Kingsbridge Armory which is one

          5  of the intake assessment shelters for the adult

          6  shelter system, to monitor compliance with the terms

          7  of the consent decree, and when I entered the

          8  facility I saw a terrible scene. I saw 20 women who

          9  had been overnighting, who had been bounced from

         10  shelter to shelter, many of them for several weeks

         11  at a time who have been waiting to access stable

         12  shelter placements, and I just would like to tell

         13  you about a few of those women.

         14                 Emma is a woman who works full time

         15  as a home health aid, she had been bouncing from

         16  shelter to shelter for a week, and she complained of

         17  lack of sleep, of hypertension, her hypertension was

         18  becoming worse during this period of time.

         19                 Janet is a woman who is blind in one

         20  eye and suffers from depression for which she takes

         21  medication. She has been bouncing from shelter to

         22  shelter for a week.

         23                 And Cathy is a woman who suffers from

         24  manic depression and is undergoing treatment for

         25  that. She complained that the lack of sleep and the
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          2  stress of this ordeal that she has been undergoing

          3  had made her situation worse.

          4                 These women are routinely bussed

          5  after midnight to an overnight bed where they are

          6  woken up at 5:00 the following morning, so sometimes

          7  they only get four or five hours of sleep at night.

          8  This has been going on for a very long time. We

          9  brought this to the Department of Homeless Services

         10  and their response has basically been there is

         11  nothing that we can do.

         12                 The service provider that operates

         13  the Kingsbridge Shelter is making their best effort,

         14  they are really doing a good job, but they complain

         15  that the City has not made it possible for them to

         16  break the bottleneck at the front door of the

         17  system, and this is the sort of thing that we are

         18  seeing playing out on the singles side, which we

         19  have been seeing for years at the EAU.

         20                 MS. BROSNAHAN: In closing I just

         21  would like to say that so much lip service was paid

         22  to the concept of a continuum of care, but when you

         23  cut to the chase the real continuum begins with that

         24  fundamental safe, secure shelter bed, and it has

         25  become increasingly difficult for many New Yorkers,
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          2  both families and single adults to even get to that

          3  first stage of care.

          4                 Just last year, and on the other end

          5  of the system, just last year the City Council, led

          6  by you, Mr. DiBrienza, funded a Citywide Rental

          7  Assistance Program in the face of strong opposition

          8  from Mayor Giuliani. The rental assistance program

          9  would have moved thousands of homeless families and

         10  individuals out of the shelters and into permanent

         11  apartments at a fraction of the cost of keeping them

         12  in shelters for often months, if not years at a

         13  time.

         14                 And again, as you well know, Mayor

         15  Giuliani has effectively eliminated this program

         16  despite your best efforts. Nonetheless, this shift

         17  in policy towards the provision of permanent housing

         18  placements for homeless people represents a

         19  sea-change in New York City's approach to

         20  homelessness, and I am hopeful that the Council will

         21  revisit this issue this year.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you all.

         24                 What I expect from, you know, expect

         25  this Committee will be involved with, because they
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          2  have been concerned about it, are the issues that

          3  will be with us with a permanent agency or they were

          4  there before they were permanent, they will be there

          5  after they become permanent and free-standing, and

          6  those issues are of eligibility and the standards or

          7  lack thereof on the front end, and the issues on the

          8  back end. The permanent housing placements, new

          9  construction or otherwise of Section 8 placements,

         10  the EARP bonus which is proposed to be removed, and

         11  the rental assistance program, which the entire

         12  Committee has been supportive of. I mean, those are

         13  the long range issues. I appreciate hearing, and I

         14  think every member here appreciates hearing in a

         15  sense, although you each have to, and I think

         16  rightfully have to point out what the long range

         17  issues are, that for the short range we have done

         18  some wonderfully important things here with Intro.

         19  521 as it combines with the rest of the legislation

         20  that has been done in parts, the first bill, the

         21  first amendment to clarify and now this one.

         22                 So, I think we are setting a stage

         23  for the Committee to be able to try to address

         24  cooperatively with the agency and the Commissioner

         25  those two problems on an ongoing basis, eligibility
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          2  standards at the front end and permanent housing and

          3  all of its ramifications at the back end. So, thank

          4  you.

          5                 Thank you very much. Unless there are

          6  questions -- we have been joined by Council Member

          7  Ronnie Eldridge. Again, I indicated what was

          8  happening to members of the Committee coming in and

          9  going out.

         10                 That is the end of our scheduled

         11  witnesses now. I know there are a lot of people here

         12  who wanted to testify, presumably many are people

         13  who have been involved in the system and have been

         14  through the application process many times. The

         15  problem is one of time. Now there are three names,

         16  if it is only these three folks, and I am not

         17  looking to limit it, then probably we could fit it

         18  in, Michael Kendall, Herbert Bettis and Tanya

         19  Caines. Are those three people here? Why don't you

         20  raise your hands if you are here. Just raise your

         21  hands first.

         22                 Now, are there a whole lot of other

         23  folks who wanted to testify or just were here to I

         24  think support the agencies that have come in to make

         25  sure we focus on eligibility and standards and
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          2  objective standards versus subjective standards, as

          3  well the issue has been raised about the back end,

          4  as we move to make the final amendments to this

          5  agency.

          6                 Okay, well, if there is not, then why

          7  don't -- Mr. Kendall, you can join us and then we

          8  will have the other two folks, Herbert Bettis and

          9  Tanya Caines, we will spend a few extra minutes to

         10  accommodate these three folks and then we will

         11  finish with the presenters.

         12                 Are the other folks that I mentioned

         13  with us? Okay, Tanya I guess? Tanya Caines, okay.

         14                 I am embarrassed to say, but as you

         15  know, every witness who comes before us is first

         16  sworn. So, if you will raise your right hand and

         17  swear or affirm.

         18                 MS. LEVIN: Do you swear or affirm

         19  that the testimony you are about to provide is the

         20  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         21                 MS. CAINES: I do.

         22                 MR. KENDALL: I do.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         24                 MS. LEVIN: If each of you could state

         25  your name and affiliation for the record.
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          2                 ARCHDEACON KENDALL: I am Archdeacon

          3  Michael Kendall. I am the Archdeacon with the

          4  Episcopal Diocese of New York and I am the Vice

          5  Chair of the Council of Churches.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And Tanya.

          7                 MS. CAINES: I am Tanya Caines. I am a

          8  resident at Senecca Houses.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Would you tell

         10  us the basic story you want to tell us.

         11                 MS. CAINES: Listening to all of the

         12  stories today, as everyone that spoke, I feel

         13  fortunate that I was out of EAU and didn't go

         14  through all of the things that the other ones went

         15  through, but I feel for them.

         16                 But the things that I did see while I

         17  was there really shocked me, like taking of personal

         18  things. I mean, the food. There are people there

         19  that couldn't eat that food, they would say we

         20  couldn't bring food in, we couldn't go out to get

         21  food unless we sat on the outside on the concrete

         22  and ate it. Bringing drinks were disallowed. Our

         23  personal hygiene things were kept in a cabinet and

         24  when we went back for them they weren't there, all

         25  of a sudden they were lost. I mean, there was a lot
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          2  of things. And the issue about towels and sleeping

          3  on the floor and clean blankets. We were getting

          4  blankets that other people used. It was very

          5  difficult.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I do want to

          7  assure you that the main purpose of today's hearing,

          8  the passage of 521-A, goes a long way towards

          9  addressing the conditions and the problems with

         10  people being forced to sleep, children and families

         11  being forced to sleep on the floors.

         12                 Our original bill did it, the

         13  Committee believed in it, the Administration thought

         14  it would cost them ten to $20 million to do it. We

         15  think that was a misreading but that is water under

         16  the bridge. The amendment clearly states that

         17  families who apply, if they are still in the process

         18  of applying after 10:00 are transported for shelter

         19  for the night, if they need to come back to finish,

         20  they can finish in the morning and they move right

         21  into their more long range conditional placement.

         22  So   hopefully that part of it is clear.

         23                 The other issue, objective standards

         24  for eligibility and permanent housing and all its

         25  variations at the end, we do know and appreciate the
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          2  witnesses today, in addition to yourselves, who say

          3  those are the things that -- now that you have done

          4  some good things, if I can paraphrase, those are the

          5  issues you have to keep working on and I have made

          6  that clear to the Commissioner.

          7                 So, thank you.

          8                 Let's hear from the Archdeacon and

          9  then we will finish up.

         10                 ARCHDEACON KENDALL: Well, first of

         11  all, I would like to thank you for your leadership

         12  in this, and to speak in support of the legislation.

         13  The churches and synagogues in this City have been

         14  working together for a long time on this issue and

         15  have been advocates. We have written briefs and so

         16  on and so we are glad to see this happening.

         17                 I just want to emphasize one major

         18  point; that is that we know that these stories are

         19  true because the people come to our churches and to

         20  our synagogues, and almost every house of worship is

         21  involved in some way helping with homelessness and

         22  hunger.

         23                 The problem has been that homeless

         24  people have been treated in this City by this

         25  Administration as criminals. And I want to say that,
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          2  the approach has been as if these are criminals.

          3  They are not. They are our brothers and sisters. And

          4  if you accept that fundamental principle, then we

          5  need a system that is proactive, that is caring,

          6  that is an advocate, and therefore, what I want to

          7  suggest in this legislation is, there is one other

          8  piece that I think needs to be considered, and that

          9  is to have some kind of advocacy built in, an

         10  ombudsperson perhaps, who speaks for a person who is

         11  having a hard time speaking because of what they

         12  have been through.

         13                 You will hear some of the stories, I

         14  know you have heard them, and it is very good to

         15  have this new legislation and it is very helpful but

         16  there still is the issue, as you know, of management

         17  and administration and attitude.

         18                 Somewhere in here there ought to be a

         19  way that people who are in this, going through this

         20  system have a person built in that can be their

         21  advocate. The churches can do that, the synagogues

         22  can do that, Legal Aid can do it, but if the system

         23  cares, if this is really a caring system and not a

         24  criminalizing system, there needs to be some way of

         25  saying, of having a person to say, wait a minute
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          2  this is wrong, this person has been mistreated, and

          3  have it built in.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

          6  both.

          7                 MS. CAINES: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I am sorry,

          9  Council Member Watkins.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: I certainly

         11  agree a problem is the need of even a further

         12  recommendation about where and how we build this in,

         13  because there is no sense skirting the issue.

         14                 The Administration has been resistant

         15  to the point of being combative about any of these

         16  things. We certainly can't use the Public Advocate's

         17  Office because there is such bad blood, if you will

         18  there, it just wouldn't work. And I believe that I

         19  certainly know the Chairman would agree, we would

         20  welcome recommendations of how to build in -- we are

         21  frankly tired of going through litigation to get

         22  things accomplished, and that is what we have been

         23  having to do.

         24                 We pass it, and it gets overridden --

         25  I mean it gets vetoed, we override the veto and we
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          2  end up in court, and that doesn't solve anything

          3  because the people in need of the assistance are

          4  still not getting it.

          5                 And we really would like to be able

          6  to do this without a war.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          8                 ARCHDEACON KENDALL: I will just

          9  respond very quickly and say I agree with you, we

         10  are all aware of this. But I would like to say

         11  administrations do change, there are elections, and

         12  therefore good laws are good things. And it seems to

         13  me that there ought to be some way, in any kind of

         14  social welfare system there needs to be a role of

         15  the care-giver as advocate, as well as case manager,

         16  that is certainly what I am pushing for.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         18                 And any further detailed suggestions

         19  would be helpful. Staff will be looking at all of

         20  these things as, as we finish now this final round

         21  on the legislation. Clearly up until now advocacy

         22  groups, some of whom you have heard from today, and

         23  this Committee have been the advocates for those

         24  used or abused by the system, and while that is more

         25  informal than formal, it certainly is something.
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          2                 The Advisory Commission and there are

          3  some other things that are supposed to be in place,

          4  I mean once we complete this sort of circle, I think

          5  the Committee is always prepared to look at long

          6  range issues. We know two, we now have a kind of

          7  third, but we absolutely know that eligibility

          8  standards at the front end is critical. We know

          9  permanent housing and all of its forms at the back

         10  end, and the notion that someone, maybe even in a

         11  more formal way, continue to be able to be an

         12  objective look is something that we have heard. We

         13  kind of play that role, but you are right, there may

         14  be better ways to do it. So, thank you.

         15                 ARCHDEACON KENDALL: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: At this point

         17  the hearing is going to be adjourned, it is going to

         18  be closed. As I indicated, I believe that all of the

         19  elements of the amendment are complete, and have the

         20  support of the Committee, we need to make sure we

         21  have all of our members, and that is a scheduling

         22  issue, in order to record votes and that will

         23  probably have to happen at the morning of the

         24  Council meeting to actually record the votes, and we

         25  will make sure that all of the component parts of
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          2  the legislation and the related documents are in

          3  place, and we will do that. It is not to suggest

          4  there is any problem. I think that we are clear here

          5  that the Committee and the Administration will find

          6  it pretty clear that these are the necessary

          7  elements of the legislation, that this adds to it,

          8  and I think those votes then will be recorded.

          9                 So, actually maybe what we will do is

         10  recess and then maybe technically the meeting is

         11  recessed so that we can record the votes in time for

         12  the Council meeting. So, that is how we will do it.

         13                 Again, if you know anything about the

         14  work of this Committee, it is no battle we shy away

         15  from. This is done, this is correct, this is strong,

         16  this is helpful and it is just a matter of recording

         17  of our votes at the appropriate time in time for the

         18  Council meeting.

         19                 So, we will recess this Committee

         20  meeting.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 (Hearing recessed at 2:52 p.m.)

         23

         24

         25
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.
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